
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

 
 
Civil Action No. 11-cv-01653-CMA-MJW 
 
K-BEECH, INC.,  
 
 Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
JOHN DOES 1-35,  
 
 
 Defendants. 
_________________________________/ 

 
PLAINTIFF’S MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF THE FILING OF A 

SINGLE LAWSUIT AGAINTS JOHN DOES 1-35 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Joinder is proper in this case because each of the Defendants used the BitTorrent Protocol 

to download from or distribute to each of the other Defendants, as a part of the exact same 

transaction or through a series of transactions, the exact same torrent file (computer file) 

containing Plaintiff’s copyrighted movie.  Further, Plaintiff alleged that each of the Defendants is 

not only liable for his or her direct infringement of Plaintiff’s work (Count I) but also that each 

of the Defendants is contributorily liable for each of the other Defendant’s direct infringement 

(Count II).  Under these circumstances, joinder is clearly permitted under Fed. R. Civ. P. 20(a). 

Further, Fed. R. Civ. P. 1 instructs judges to construe the rules in such a way as to secure the 

“inexpensive determination of every action” weighs heavily in favor of finding that joinder is  
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proper1.     

Joinder in BitTorrent copyright infringement cases has been thoroughly analyzed in 

several reported opinions.  Joinder has been permitted where, as here: (a) the complaint clearly 

explains how BitTorrent works through a series of transactions, (b) all of the defendants live in 

the same jurisdiction (eliminating long-arm issues), and (c) plaintiff pled that the defendants are 

contributorily liable for each others’ infringement.   

II. LEGAL STANDARD 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 20(a)(2) states: 

Persons . . . may be joined in one action as defendants if:  

(A) any right to relief is asserted against them jointly, severally, or in the 
alternative with respect to or arising out of the same transaction, occurrence, or 
series of transactions or occurrences; and  

(B) any question of law or fact common to all defendants will arise in the action.  

“Under the Federal Rules generally, the impulse is toward the broadest possible scope of 

action consistent with fairness to the parties; joinder of claims, parties and remedies is strongly 

encouraged.”  United Mine Workers of Am. v. Gibbs, 383 U.S. 715, 724 (1966).    

III. ARGUMENT 

A. Joinder is Permitted Under Rule 20 

As set forth in Rule 20, joinder is proper if the plaintiff either pleads joint and several 

liability, or the same transaction, occurrence, or series of transactions or occurrences.  Here, 

Plaintiff pled both grounds:  

“Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 20(a)(2), each of Defendants was properly joined 
because, as set forth in more detail below, Plaintiff asserts that (a) each of the 

                                                
1 This memorandum is being filed in the following three cases all pending in the District of Colorado and assigned 
to Magistrate Watanabe and pursuant to Magistrate Watanabe’s orders requiring that the Plaintiffs file briefs 
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Defendants is jointly and severally liable for the infringing activities of each of 
the other Defendants, and (b) the infringement complained of hereby by each of 
the Defendants was part of a series of transactions, involving the exact same 
pieces of Plaintiff’s copyright Movie/Work, and was accomplished by the 
Defendants acting in concert with each other, and (C) there are common questions 
of law and fact. . . .” 
 

Complaint at ¶ 10. 
 
 

1. BitTorrent Copyright Infringement Occurs Through a Series of 
Transactions          

 
The issue of whether joinder is proper in BitTorrent copyright infringement cases was 

thoroughly analyzed by the Court in Voltage Pictures v. Does 1-5000, No. 10-0873, 2011 WL 

1807438 (D. D.C. May 12, 2011), which concluded that joinder was proper.  The opinion, 

starting at *4, contains four pages of analysis on the joinder issue.  As explained by the Voltage 

Court, participants in a BitTorrent swarm are involved in the same transaction or occurrence or 

series of transactions or occurrences, and the claims against the defendants contain common 

questions of law and fact.  See also West Coast Productions, Inc. v. Does 1-5829, No. 11-577 

(CKK) 2011 WL 2292239, *5 (D.D.C. June 10, 2011) (holding that allegations asserting 

defendants participated in the same BitTorrent swarm meet the same transaction or occurrence or 

series of transactions or occurrences test and that “the second prong of the test, ‘common 

questions of law or fact, is easily met.’”)  Accord Call of the Wild Movie, LLC v. Does 1-1062, 

No. 10-455, 2011 WL 996786, (D.D.C. March 22, 2011) (joinder, at procedural juncture of case, 

was proper as it would not prejudice the parties or cause needless delay, would promote judicial 

economy and because claims regarding downloading via BitTorrent are logically related, and 
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potentially stem from the same transaction or occurrence, and contain a common question of law 

or fact).2 

a. Plaintiff Properly Pled a Series of Transactions  

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 8, “under the notice pleading standard, specific facts are 

not necessary; the statement need only give the defendant fair notice of what the claim is and the 

grounds upon which it rests.”  Erickson v. Pardus, 551 U.S. 89, 93 (2007).  Additionally, “when 

ruling on a defendant’s motion to dismiss, a judge must accept as true all of the factual 

allegations contained in the complaint.”  Id. at 94.  Here, Plaintiff’s Complaint easily satisfies 

Rule 8’s requirement to give Defendants notice that Plaintiff is asserting Defendants acted 

together in the same transaction or through a series of transactions:   

29. The BitTorrent protocol causes the initial seed’s computer to send 
different pieces of the computer file, here the copyright Movie/Work, to the peers 
seeking to download the computer file. 
 
30. Once a peer receives a piece of the computer file, here a piece of the 
copyrighted Movie/Work, it starts transmitting that piece to the other peers. 
 
31. In this way, all of the peers and seeders are working together in what is a 
called a “swarm.” 
 
33. In this way, and by way of example only, one initial seeder can create a 
torrent that breaks a movie up into hundreds or thousands of pieces saved in the 
form of a computer file, like the Movie/Work here, upload the torrent onto a 
torrent site, and deliver a different piece of the copyrighted Movie/Work to each 
of the peers.  The recipient peers then automatically begin delivering the pieces 
they just received to the other peers in the same swarm. 

* * * 
37. [Plaintiff’s investigator] IPP extracted the resulting data emanating from 
the investigation, reviewed the evidence logs, and isolated the transaction and the 
IP addresses associated therewith for the file identified by the SHA-1 has value of 
FB4FA00EBAA9E332B559C1BD36EB5197A96C6541 (the “Unique Hash 
Number”). 
 

                                                
2 Ultimately, because of  pre-service resolution, data loss and the dropping of various Does, it is expected that these 
suits ultimately will proceed against 50%  to 85% less Defendants than originally named.  Accordingly, bringing 
these suits in this fashion is efficient, economical and manageable. 
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38. The IP addresses, Unique Hash Number and hit dates contained within 
Exhibit A accurately reflect what is contained in the evidence logs, and show: 
 
(A) Each Defendant had copied a piece or pieces of Plaintiff’s copyrighted 
Movie/Work identified by the Unique Hash Number and was simultaneously 
distributing that piece or pieces to the other Defendants who, in turn, were 
copying and distributing that piece and other pieces thereof for distribution to the 
other Defendants; and 
 
(B) Therefore, each Defendant acted in concert with the Defendants and was 
part of the same series of transactions which, taken together, resulted in the 
copying and distribution of complete copies of Plaintiff’s work. 

 
Am. Complaint at ¶¶ 29-31; 33; 37-38.  

 
Here, should this matter go trial, Plaintiff will prove that the Defendants’ infringement 

was committed through the same transaction or through a series of transactions with 

mathematical certainty by demonstrating, inter alia, that but for each of the Defendant’s 

infringements, the other Defendants would not have infringed Plaintiff’s copyrights in the same 

way because the entire series of transactions would have been different.     

2. Joinder is Also Proper Because Plaintiff Pled That Each of the 
Defendants Is Contributorily Liable For Each Other Defendant’s 
Infringement   

 
Joinder is also proper because Plaintiff pled that each Defendant is contributorily liable 

for each of the other Defendant’s infringement.  “It is, today, a given that one who, with 

knowledge of the infringing activity, induces, causes or materially contributes to the infringing 

conduct of another, may be held liable as a ‘contributory infringer.’”  Costar Group, Inc. v. 

Loopnet, Inc., 164 F. Supp.2d 688, 696 (M.D. 2001).  Here, Plaintiff properly pled contributory 

infringement:   

54. By participating in the BitTorrent swarm with the other Defendants, each 
Defendant induced, caused or materially contributed to the infringing conduct of each other 
Defendant. 
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55.   Plaintiff did not authorize, permit or consent to the Defendants’ inducing, causing 
or materially contributing to the infringing conduct of each other Defendant. 

56. Each Defendant knew or should have known that other BitTorrent users, here the 
other Defendants, would become members of a swarm with Defendant. 

57.   Each Defendant knew or should have known that other BitTorrent users in a 
swarm with it, here the other Defendants, were directly infringing Plaintiff’s copyright Work by 
copying those of the constituent elements of the registered Work that are original. 

58. Indeed, each Defendant directly participated in and therefore materially 
contributed to each other Defendant’s infringing activities. 

59.  Each of the Defendants’ contributory infringements were committed ‘willfully’ 
within the meaning of 17 U.S.C. § 504(c)(2).3 

Am. Complaint at ¶¶ 54-59.  

Significantly, Plaintiff will prove that there was one initial seeder that uploaded the 

subject torrent file identified by the Unique Hash Number.  Hash numbers were created by the 

National Security Agency to act as digital fingerprints for BitTorrent files.  The purpose of Hash 

Numbers is to ensure that any particular piece of data belongs in a particular torrent file.  All of 

the Defendants were part of a swarm as evidenced by them having sent Plaintiff’s investigator, 

IPP, Ltd., a piece of Plaintiff’s work identified by the Unique Hash Number.  Finally, that all the 

transactions through which Defendants obtained Plaintiff’s work were a part of a series of 

transactions during which each of the Defendants either received a piece of the Work from each 

of the other Defendants or distributed a piece of Plaintiff’s work to each of the other Defendants.   

Further, Plaintiff will prove that when a Defendant receives a piece from a downstream 

infringer, i.e., an infringer who already had that piece, then that Defendant will automatically 

begin distributing the piece it received from the downstream infringer to others.  By doing so, 

Plaintiff will prove that said Defendant materially assists the downstream infringer’s direct 

infringement of Plaintiff’s exclusive right to “redistribute . . . the Work. . . .”  in violation of 17 

                                                
3 The foregoing paragraph numbers correspond to the paragraph numbers in the Complaint. 
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U.S.C. § 106(3) and 17 U.S.C. §501.  Similarly, when a Defendant provides a piece of Plaintiff’s 

copyrighted work to an upstream infringer, Plaintiff will prove that the upstream infringer both 

sends that piece to other infringers and will also assemble the entire Work.  Accordingly, by 

delivering a piece to an upstream infringer, the Defendant is contributorily liable for materially 

assisting the upstream infringer to redistribute, perform, and display the Work in violation of 17 

U.S.C. § 106(3)-(5) and 17 U.S.C. § 501.   

a. Contributory Infringement is a Jury Question 
 

Since one of the grounds for permissive joinder is joint and several liability, should the 

Court hold that joinder is not permitted, then any such holding would effectively summarily 

adjudicate Plaintiff’s claim for contributory infringement.  Such a holding would be erroneous 

because contributory infringement is “a question of fact for trial.”  Adobe Systems, Inc. v. Canus 

Productions, Inc., 173 F. Supp. 2d 1044, 1055 (C.D. Cal. 2001); Marobie-FL, Inc. v. National 

Ass’n of Fire Equipment Distributors, 983 F. Supp. 1167 (N.D. IL 1997) (“fact questions 

precluded summary judgment with respect to providers’ liability for contributory infringement”). 

Moreover, since BitTorrent works through the cooperative exchange among peers in a swarm, 

claims for contributory infringement must be permitted or the law would be inconsistent with the 

very nature of BitTorrent.  4 

                                                
4 A number of judges in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California have refused to permit joinder. 
See, e.g., Hard Drive Productions v. Does 1-188, No. 11-cv-1566, 2011 WL 3740473 (N.D. Cal August 23, 2011); 
IO Group Inc. v. Does 1-19, No. C. 10-03851, 2010 WL 5071605 (N.D. Cal. Dec. 7, 2010); Diabolic Video 
Production, No. 10-CV-5865, 2011 WL 3100404 (N.D. Cal. May 31, 2011); Pacific Century Int’l Ltd. v. Does 1-
101, No. C-11-02533-(DMR), 2011 WL 2690142 (N.D. Cal. July 8, 2011); Boy Racer, Inc. v. Does 1-60, No. C 11-
01738 SI, 2011 WL 3652521 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 19, 2011); see also e.g. CP Productions, Inc. v. John Does 1-300, No. 
10 C 6255, 2011 WL 737761 (N.D. Ill. Feb. 24, 2011). These courts have taken an improperly narrow view of the 
joinder rules, have been confronted with bare allegations that the putative defendants used the same peer-to-peer 
network to infringe copyrighted works, and have found those allegations were insufficient for joinder, see Voltage 
Pictures v. Does 1-5000, 2011 WL 1807438 (D.D.C May 12, 2011) (discussing the IO Group case cited herein and 
others), or most importantly, have not been presented with or discussed the importance of claims of contributory 
infringement to the question of joinder. But see MCGIP, LLC v. Does 1-18, No. 11-1495, 2011 WL 2181620 (N.D. 
Cal. June 2, 2011) (finding joinder proper). 
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b. Plaintiff Intends to Call Each Defendant To Prove 
Contributory Infringement vis-à-vis the other Defendants  

 
Regarding contributory infringement, by way of example, Plaintiff has to prove Doe 1 is 

liable for direct infringement in order for Plaintiff to succeed on its claim that Doe 2 is 

contributorily liable for Doe 1’s infringement.  Indeed, “without proof of direct infringement 

there can be no liability for contributory infringement.”  Bridgeport Music, Inc. v. Diamond 

Time, Ltd., 371 F.3d 883 (6th Cir. 2004); accord Goldberg v. Cameron, 2009 WL 2051370, 6 

(N.D. Cal. 2009) (same).  Accordingly, to support its claim of contributory infringement against 

each Defendant vis-a-vis each other Defendant, Plaintiff intends to call each of the Defendants to 

prove the direct infringement.  The realities associated with Plaintiff’s evidentiary burdens weigh 

in favor of having one trial, as opposed to multiple trials, so that the parties’ resources are not 

squandered. 

B. Distinguishable Cases  

Various cases have been cited in an effort to avoid joinder. Some of the cases, for 

example, unlike this case, involve multiple plaintiffs and infringement of multiple copyrights in 

the same lawsuit.  See (1) BMG Music, et.. al. v. Does 1-4, Case No. 3:06-cv-01579-MHP, 2006 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 53237, (N.D. Cal. 2006), (5 Plaintiffs – 12 different songs, see the Complaint 

at ¶ 15 and Exhibit A to the Complaint); (2) Twentieth Century Fox Film Corp. et. al. v. Does 1-

12, Case No. 3:04-cv-04862-WHA, (N.D. Cal. 2004), (6 Plaintiffs – 13 songs, see the Complaint 

at ¶¶ 4-11 and Exhibit A to the Complaint); (3) Interscope Records, et. al. v. Does 1-25, 2004 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS, Case No. 6:04-cv-197 – ACC- DAB (M.D. Fla. 2004), (16 Plaintiffs and 

dozens if not hundreds of songs, see the Complaint at ¶¶ 4-19 and Exhibit A to the Complaint); 

and (4) BMG Music v. Does 1-203, Case No. 2:04-cv-00650-CN (E.D.P.A. 2004) (17 Plaintiffs 

and numerous works, see the Complaint at ¶¶ 4-19 & 23). 
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Since multiple works were at issue in these copyright cases, the plaintiffs in those cases 

did not plead that the online infringements were part of the same transaction or series of 

transactions or that the defendants in those cases were contributorily liable for each other’s 

infringement.  Accordingly, the courts in those cases properly held that joinder under Rule 20(a) 

was not permitted.  Because here the Plaintiff has pled facts which show the Defendants to have 

engaged in online infringement which is part of the same transaction or occurrence-- joinder is 

proper.  

In three cases brought by DirecTV, Inc., joinder was not permitted. In these cases, 

DirecTV alleged that the defendants purchased – but not from each other or through a series of 

transactions among each other – “Pirate Access Devices” to steal satellite TV signals.5  In each 

of the three DirecTV cases, DirecTV only pled one or more of the following claims: (1) 

unauthorized reception of satellite signals in violation of 47 U.S.C. § 605(a); (2) unauthorized 

interception of electronic communications in violation of 18 U.S.C. §2511 (1)(a); (3) possession 

of pirate access devices in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2512(1)(b); (4) damages for willful assembly 

or modification of devices or equipment in violation of 47 U.S.C. § 605(e)(4); and (5) 

conversion.6  Accordingly, it is clear that these cases did not involve claims that arose from the 

same transaction or occurrences and that the claims were not logically related. 

C. Severing the Claims Would Needlessly Increase the Cost of Resolving the 
Parties’ Disputes           

Should this Court sever the claims, Plaintiff would file thirty five (35) separate copyright 

claims for direct infringement and contributory infringement. It would take Plaintiff 

approximately $6,650 of attorney and paralegal time to create the papers necessary to initiate 
                                                
5 See e.g.: In the Matter of DirectTV, Inc., DirectTV, Inc. v. Adrian, DirectTV, Inc. v. Boggess, and DirectTV v. 
Lewis.   
6 The Complaint in DirecTV v. Lewis, et. al., 2004 WL 941805 (W.D. N.Y. 2004) is not available, however the 
order severing the defendants makes clear it involved the same causes of action, as the other DirecTV cases. 
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thirty five (35) suits.  The filing fees to initiate these suits would be $12,250.  This would 

dramatically increase the cost of the initial pleadings.  Nevertheless, all of these cases would be 

filed in this district.  Plaintiff would file notices of related cases.  Presumably, this District would 

consolidate the cases for purposes of judicial management.  Nevertheless, at every stage of the 

process, the litigants and the Court would be faced with additional work.  For example, instead 

of one motion for leave to serve subpoenas in advance of a 26(f) conference, there would be 

thirty five (35) motions. Instead of one Rule 26(f) conference and report, there would be thirty-

five (35) Rule 26(f) conferences and reports.  Identical pleadings and papers would be 

repetitively filed all of the way to the end of the cases.  Then, instead of one trial and one set of 

jury instructions, there would be thirty-five (35) trials and thirty-five (35) sets of jury 

instructions.   

Plaintiff, whose works are being infringed on a massive scale, has no choice but to pursue 

these claims.  Accordingly, it would prepare the necessary papers.  Nevertheless, as set forth 

above, such a process would needlessly and significantly increase the amount of work for the 

parties, internet service providers, this Court and everyone else associated with this case. And 

because the IP addresses are dynamic, individual suits could result in suing the same person 

twice, making individual suits impracticable, and subjecting that single Defendant to double 

costs. Moreover, because ten to fifteen percent of the data is lost by the time the request for 

information is served on the ISP, individual suits unnecessarily and unfairly increase the costs.  

Thus, any such a ruling would be inconsistent with Rule 1’s instruction to judges to construe and 

administer the Rules . . . “to secure the inexpensive determination of every action.”  

Ultimately, the Defendants would bear the brunt of these additional costs.  “According to 

the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, . . . attorneys’ fees are routinely awarded in copyright 
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infringement cases.”  M.L.E. Music v. Kimble, Inc., 109 F. Supp.2d 469, 474 (S.D. W.Va. 

2000), citing Allen v. Burke, 690 F. 2d 376 (4th Cir. 1982).  “Many district courts within this 

circuit have routinely awarded attorneys’ fees and costs where bad faith was found against a 

Defendant.”  Id. (citing five (5) cases) .7  Here, Plaintiff alleges that each of the Defendant’s acts 

of infringement was willful.  Indeed, Plaintiff intends to show the jury the torrent website from 

which Defendants downloaded Plaintiff’s movie, which contains movies currently out in theaters 

and songs no rational person would think are available for free.  Put another way, Plaintiff will 

prove the Defendants knew exactly what they were doing and this will support a claim for 

attorneys’ fees and costs.8 

                                                
7 Indeed, in Call of the Wild, the Court held that “joinder in a single case of the putative defendants who allegedly 
infringed the same copyrighted material promotes judicial efficiency and, in fact, is beneficial to the putative 
defendants. Call of the Wild Movie, LLC. 770 F. Supp. 2d at 344. 
8 Although joinder is proper, it bears noting that “the proper remedy for an improper joinder is a severance, not a 
dismissal.”  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 21. 
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IV. Conclusion 

Because the claims brought here are logically related, arise out of the same transaction or 

occurrence, and have common questions of law or fact, joinder is proper.  Joinder also promotes 

judicial economy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

By: /s/Jason Kotzker 
Jason Kotzker    
jason@klgip.com 
KOTZKER LAW GROUP 
10268 Royal Eagle Street 
Highlands Ranch, CO 80129 
Phone: 303-875-5386 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
 

Date: September 12, 2011 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

                I hereby certify that on September 12, 2011, I electronically filed the foregoing 
document with the Clerk of the Court using CM/ECF.  

 

By:  /s/Jason Kotzker  

Jason Kotzker 
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